

የኢትዮጵያውያን : ማሕበረሰብ : ማዕከል : በሜሪላንድ (ኢማማሜ)
Ethiopian Community Center in Maryland (ECCM)

BY LAWS

ETHIOPIAN COMMUNITY CENTER IN MARYLAND (ECCM)

ARTICLE 1. Name

- 1.1 The name of the Organization shall be the Ethiopian Community Center in Maryland (hereinafter referred to as the Organization or ECCM).
- 1.2 ECCM formed under the state of Maryland, which is organized and shall be operated in accordance with the meaning and provisions of Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations issued thereunder.

ARTICLE 2. Purpose

As set forth in the Articles of Incorporation, the ECCM is organized exclusively for charitable, cultural, social and educational purposes. The mission is to provide reliable, quality, and accessible community services to all Ethiopians, other Africans and others in Maryland, regardless of immigration status, age, sex, or other social, economical or ideological differences. The goals include promoting self-sufficiency, cultural understanding, and assisting Ethiopian and Ethiopian Americans to preserve and share the ancient and rich cultural heritage of Ethiopia.

ARTICLE 3. Location

The principal office of ECCM shall be located within the state of Maryland, at such place as the Board of Directors shall from time to time designate. The Organization may maintain additional offices at such other places as the Board of Directors may designate. ECCM shall continuously maintain within the state of Maryland a registered office at such place as may be designated by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 4. Board of Directors

- 4.1 Except for such powers as may be delegated by the Constitution to members, officers, or committees of the Organization, the management of the business of the Organization shall be vested in its Board of Directors, hereinafter referred to as the Board, which will function in accordance with the following provisions.
- 4.2 The Board of Directors shall consist of fifteen (15) members elected at an Annual General Assembly Meeting (GAM) of the Organization. Eligible members may be co-opted by the Board.

- 4.3 The Board of Directors shall review, analyze and approve the programs and services of the Organization on a regular basis.
- 4.4 The Board of Directors shall review and approve the annual operating budget of the Organization vis-à-vis the programs and services established.
- 4.5 The Board of Directors shall conduct quarterly reviews of the programs, services and operating budget of the Organization.
- 4.6 The Board of Director shall review any and all leases, agreements, promises, debts, loans, and contracts related to ECCM property.
- 4.7 The meeting of the Board shall be held as often as the business of the ECCM may require, and at least once a month, and shall be called by the Secretary. Fifty one percent (51%) or more of the members of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum.
- 4.8 Any member of the Board who wishes to resign shall submit in writing to the President (or if the President, to the Secretary) his/her intention to resign. The Board will consider the resignation at its next meeting.
- 4.9 A special meeting of the Board may be called on the instruction of any three members, provided they request the secretary in writing to call such a meeting and they state the business to be brought before the meeting. A meeting of the board shall be called within ten days' notice.
- 4.10 If a maximum of five (5) vacancies occur on the Board in between the General Assembly Meetings, whether through resignation or any other reason, it shall be filled by the Board until the next GAM. If more than five such vacancies occur the Board shall call an emergency GAM within a thirty-day period.
- 4.11 The Board shall have the authority to utilize the Organization's funds towards the achievement of the Organization's objectives or missions in any manner it deems fit and shall be responsible and accountable to the General Assembly. The Board has the power to borrow funds from banks or other lenders, pay debts or sign contracts to benefit the Organization.
- 4.12 The Board of Directors shall hire and determine the compensation of any and all employees including subsidiary organization staff, which they, at their discretion, may determine to be necessary for the conduct of business of the Organization. It shall review the implementation of the Human Resources policies of the Organization and shall be responsible for the hiring and termination of employment of any person working for the Organization.
- 4.13 The Board shall establish standing committees and other committees as deemed necessary, with such powers and duties as it shall determine from time to time. All standing committees report to the ECCM Executive Committee.
- 4.14 The affairs of the Organization shall be managed by the Board. The Board shall have the power to make, alter, amend and delete its rules and regulations for its own governance and to change its officers or to fill any vacancy that may occur in the Administration.

- 4.15 The office of any member of the Board who is absent from three (3) successive meetings of the Board, or who has missed fifty percent (50%) of the meetings of the Board in any one year, shall ipso facto be vacated unless valid reasons for such non-attendance is acceptable to the Board.
- 4.16 Any Director may be removed for due cause by the affirmative vote of at least three quarters of the Board members attending the meeting. Any such Director shall be entitled to written notice, sent by registered mail, of the meeting at which such removal is to be voted upon and shall be entitled to appear before the Board and to be heard at the meeting. Such notice shall be sent at least five (5) days prior to such meetings.

4.17 **ELECTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

- (a) The Board of Directors shall consist of fifteen (15) members. The term of elected members to the Board shall be four (4) years. For staggering purpose, seven members of the Board shall be designated to serve for the first two years. Thereafter, the General Assembly shall elect seven or eight members alternately every two years.
- (b) Members with good standing shall be eligible for nomination to the Board. Every member of the Organization shall have one vote for each vacancy on the Board at the Annual General Assembly meeting.
- (c) Pending the approval of the upcoming GAM, any co-opted member shall finish the term of office of the individual he/she replaces.
- (d) Qualifications. A majority of Directors must reside in the State of Maryland.

ARTICLE 5: OFFICERS

5 .1 The officers of the Organization shall be the President, the Vice-President, the Secretary, the Treasurer, the Public Relation Officer and such other officers as the Board may appoint. The Board shall elect these officers from among its members. Such election shall be communicated to the members of the Organization by any means of communication no later than 15 days after such an election.

5.2 THE PRESIDENT

- (a) The President shall be Executive Officer of the Organization and shall, if present, preside at all meetings of the Organization and the Board. He/she shall sign all instruments that require his/her signature and shall have the power and perform the duties usually vested in the office of the President and shall have such other powers and duties as may from time to time be assigned to him/her by the Board.
- (b) The President shall appoint chairpersons for special committees and sub-committees as may be required or as he/she may find necessary and shall be a non-voting member of all committees unless otherwise specified by this constitution. The President shall advise the Board about the establishment of such committees and shall seek its approval on the nomination of the chairpersons.

- (c) Unless otherwise specified by the Board, the President shall have full power and authority on behalf of the ECCM to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of the stakeholders of any corporation, organization or institution in which the Organization may have interest and/or is represented.
- (d) The President shall appoint individuals to work as members of an ad hoc committee or a special task force group that will initiate new program inputs and initiatives. Individuals identified to work on the committee or task force should have the necessary skills and contacts. The President shall advise the Board about the formation of such committee meeting

5.3 VICE-PRESIDENT

The vice-President shall be vested with all powers and shall perform all the duties of the President in absence of the President or other duties as assigned by the President.

5.4 THE SECRETARY

- (a) The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board and all meetings of the General Assembly and record all such proceedings.
- (b) The Secretary shall issue or cause to be issued notices for all meetings of the members and the Board, have charge of the Minute Book of the Organization sign with the President and other signing officers of the ECCM such instruments as require his signature and shall perform such other duties as the term of his engagement call for or the Board may from time to time properly require of him.
- (c) The Secretary shall also collect and record all minutes of the Standing Committees.
- (d) The outgoing Secretary shall be responsible for convening the first meeting of the incoming Board and such a meeting shall be convened within a two-week period.

5.5 THE TREASURER

- (a) The Treasurer shall receive all monies and valuable effects paid to the Organization and shall be responsible for the deposit of the same in a bank which will be selected by the Board.
- (b) It shall be the duty of the Treasurer to verify the accuracy of all bills submitted to him/her and to determine whether such bills arose from work or services properly authorized by the Board or a delegated officer thereof. After having satisfied himself/herself of the accuracy of the bill, receipt of the service or item purchased, the treasurer shall make the payment within reasonable time.
- (c) The Treasurer shall properly account for the funds of the ECCM and shall ensure that the accounting books and records are properly kept. H/She shall present a full account of receipts and disbursement to the Board at least quarterly and shall, through the Board submit to the General Assembly a financial statement duly audited by the Audit Committee appointed by the General Assembly.
- (d) The Treasurer shall serve as the chairperson of the Budget and Finance Committee.

5.6 PUBLIC RELATIONS OFFICER

The Public Relations Officer shall be responsible for the following:

- (a) Promoting the works and activities of the ECCM in a manner that will serve to attract more members.
- (b) Publishing and distributing information (on the approval of the Board or the President of the ECCM) to the members of the organization and/or the general public.
- (c) Publicizing and disseminating the aims and objectives of the Organization.
- (d) Conducting social and cultural activities and special events.

ARTICLE 6: ADVISORY COUNCIL

- 6.1 The board of directors nominates and elects up to seven (7) advisory council members from diverse backgrounds to serve for a three-year term.
- 6.2 In response to a request from the Board, the Advisory Council makes recommendations and/or suggestions for the progress of the Ethiopian and Other African Community in Maryland.
- 6.3 The Advisory Council advises the Board in cultural, social, educational, civic and legal matters as needed.
- 6.4 The Advisory Council serves as an arbitrator and/or reconciliation committee whenever there is misunderstanding among Board members and members of the general assembly.

ARTICLE 7: EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

- 7.1 The Executive Committee shall consist of the President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and Public Relation Officer of the Organization. The Executive Committee shall be responsible for all matters concerning the day-to-day operations of the <u>organization except</u> those matters specifically reserved for the Board of Directors. The President (Chairperson) shall call and preside at all meetings of the Executive Committee. Three of the members of the Executive Committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting.
- 7.2 The Board, for operational purposes, shall amend the type of committee that would be formed. Depending upon needs existing at any time, the Board shall form new committees and/or fold or merge existing ones.
- 7.3 Unless otherwise provided by the Board, Executive Committee meetings shall be called by the President of the committee and may be held upon 24 hours verbal or written notice given to the members prior to such a meeting. A majority of the members of any committee shall constitute a quorum.
- 7.4 The Board of Directors will act as Executive Committee till the Executive Committee is formed.

ARTICLE 8: MEETING OF GENERAL ASSEMBLY

- 8.1 The Board shall call and hold at least one General Assembly Meetings within a year. The General Assembly meeting shall be attended by all members who are registered and at least in good standing 24 hours prior to such meeting.
- 8.2 Annual General Meeting shall take place within 60 days after the end of the fiscal year.
- 8.3 The General Assembly shall have the power to elect the Board of Directors, and Audit Committee Members or to remove such Board of Directors or Audit Committee members with just cause.
- 8.4 The approval of the members shall be required (a) to amend this constitution or any part thereof, (b) to provide for merger in to or with another corporation, association or organization, (c) to provide for the voluntary dissolution of the Organization or (d) for the sale, long term lease or exchange of real property of the Organization.
- 8.5 Fifty one percent (51%) or more of the members in good standing shall constitute a quorum.
- 8.6 Special meetings may be called by the president or by written request of 10% of the membership of the Organization. The purpose of the meeting shall be stated in the call.
- 8.7 The business of the organization shall be translated by viva voce* vote except the election of officers and directors, which shall be by ballot. The board may determine that a specific resolution be considered by ballot rather than by viva voice vote.

(Note: Viva voice vote is defined as when the organization voting is conducted by vocal assent.)

ARTICLE 9: PROCEDURES AND REQUIREMENTS FOR ELECTION

- 9.1 The Board calls the General Assembly at least four weeks prior to the election date.
- 9.2 The Board appoints a seven-member election committee to receive nominations and administer the election. The Board provides guidance.
- 9.3 The Board Schedules the date, time and place for filing nominations and circulates the above information to EACCM members at least thirty (30) days prior to the election date.
- 9.4 The Board shall cooperate with the Election Committee in running the election smoothly.
- 9.5 Any two voting members may nominate two additional members to the Election Committee at least three weeks before the General Assembly meeting.
- 9.6 Voting shall be by secret ballot. Votes must be cast in person and not by proxy or otherwise.
- 9.7 Only members who have been in good standing for a minimum of six (6) months prior to any election shall cast a vote.

ARTICLE 10: AUDIT COMMITTEE

The General Assembly at the Annual General meeting shall appoint an Audit Committee of three (3) members. The Audit Committee shall check the books and records of the organization and report to the General assembly its findings at least once a year at the Annual General Meeting. As the transactions of ECCM grow, the General Assembly may approve the hiring of an external auditor.

ARTICLE 11: MEMBERSHIP

- 11.1 Membership shall be open to any person who agrees to abide by the basic principles of the Organization and this Constitution and promises to actively support the aims and objectives of the Organization as set out in this document.
- 11.2 Active Members are persons of families who have made application for active membership to the Organization, paid the prescribed dues. Family membership will consist of two members, the applicant and spouse, and minor children.
- 11.3 Associate Members are those who support the objectives of the Organization and provide financial and/or other support. Associate members cannot vote or be nominated for an office but may attend any General Assembly meeting and are entitled to participate in other activities of Organization. The Board of Directors shall approve the application of Associate members.
- 11.4 Honorary Members are individuals who have rendered financial support and valuable services to the Organization. The Board shall identify such individuals and present their name to the GAM for approval. Honorary Members are exempted from paying any membership fee. Honorary Members, like Associate members, cannot vote or be nominated for an office but may attend the General Assembly meeting and are entitled to participate in other activities of the Organization.
- 11.5 Any member may withdraw from the Organization at any time, without prejudice.
- 11.6 Failure to pay membership fees for over 6 months may result in loss of good standing in the Organization.
- 11.7 Membership fees shall be determined by the Board and may be reviewed by the General Assembly. All membership fees and contribution in kind are non-refundable.
- 118 The Board can recommend the expulsion of any member from the Organization for a well-founded reason. Any such member shall have the right to attend the GAM discussing his/her expulsion.

ARTICLE 12: FISCAL YEAR

- 12.1 The fiscal and operational year of the ECCM shall be from 1st January to 31st of December.
- 12.2 The books, accounts and records of the ECCM shall be audited by Audit Committee as provided under Article 10. The audited financial statement shall be submitted to the General

Assembly as part of the Annual report of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 13. INDEMNIFICATION (EXONERATION OF LIABILITIES)

In the absence of fraud, gross negligence and bad faith; ECCM Board members, the Trustees, officers and members of ECCM, and each one of them, shall not be personally liable for any costs, debts, obligations or liabilities of the Ethiopian Community Center in Maryland. Each Board Member, Trustee and officer of the organization shall be entitled for indemnification from ECCM against all costs, claims, liabilities, fines or penalties imposed upon or asserted against him/her by reason of his/her being or having been Board member, Trustee or officer, provided, however, that no such exoneration or indemnification shall extend to any case in which any liability, fine or penalty is imposed upon him/her by reason of the final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction adjudging him/her guilty or gross negligence, bad faith, willful and fraudulent misconduct or any criminal offense.

ARTICLE 14: AMENDMENTS

The Bylaws may be altered, amended or replaced and new Bylaws may be adopted by majority vote of the Board of Directors present at any annual, regular or special meeting, if at least fifteen (15) days written notice is given of intention to alter, amend or repeal the Bylaws or to adopt new Bylaws at such meeting.

 $Copyright @\ 2014$

Ethiopian Community Center in Maryland (ECCM) 8120 Fenton Street, Suite 201 B,

Silver Spring, MD 20910. Tele: (240) 839-7805 Fax: (240) 839-7811